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      October 24, 2023 

 

VIA ELECTRONIC MAIL 
 
The Honorable W. SuzAnne Handshoe, Mayor 
City of Kendallville 
234 S. Main Street 
Kendallville, Indiana 46755 
 
Dear Mayor Handshoe: 
       Re: Combined Sewer Overflow Program 
        Long Term Control Plan 
        Level of Control Review 
       City of Kendallville 
       NPDES Permit No. IN0020656   
        Noble County 
 
  The City of Kendallville has completed all projects included in their approved 
Combined Sewer Overflow (CSO) Long Term Control Plan (LTCP) implementation 
schedule.  Therefore, the Indiana Department of Environmental Management (IDEM) 
Office of Water Quality (OWQ) conducted a review of data included on CSO Discharge 
Monitoring Report (DMR) forms, CSO Monthly Report of Operation (MRO) forms, and 
other relevant information to determine whether CSO discharges complied with the 
approved LTCP level of control, which is no untreated CSO discharge below the ten-
year, one-hour design storm, or an equivalent event.  The timeframe included in our 
review was from January 2020 through June 2023.   
 

 IDEM provided Kendallville with a letter, dated October 11, 2023, where findings 
from our review were outlined.  Even though no CSO events were reported during the 
review period, the findings necessitated that IDEM require Kendallville to provide follow-
up information.  The City of Kendallville provided the requested information on October 
13, 2023.  Based upon review of this information, as well as information gathered during 
a follow-up conversation with Patrick Howell, newly appointed Kendallville Wastewater 
Superintendent, IDEM has determined that additional time is necessary to further 
evaluate Kendallville’s compliance with their approved LTCP level of control.  Therefore, 
IDEM plans to initiate another LTCP level of control review approximately two years 
from the date of this letter, utilizing new data. 
 

Therefore, Kendallville shall continue to monitor wastewater treatment plant 
(WWTP) data, precipitation data, and CSO discharge data (as necessary).  Gathered 
data shall be documented on the CSO MRO form, including WWTP peak hourly flow for 
every day of each month.  Additionally, the comment page must be included with  
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monthly CSO MRO submittals and should be utilized to explain the rationale for each 
reported CSO event. 

 
No response to this letter is required.  Please contact Dave Tennis at 317/234-

9558 or by email at dtennis@idem.in.gov if you have questions regarding this letter.  
Thank you for your attention to this matter.   

 
 Sincerely,  
 

        
 
 Leigh Voss, Chief 
 Municipal NPDES Permits Section 
 Office of Water Quality 

 
cc:   Patrick Howell, Interim Superintendent 
   Lynn Raisor, IDEM Wastewater Inspector 
   Amari Farren, IDEM Water Enforcement 
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       October 11, 2023 
 

VIA ELECTRONIC MAIL 
 
The Honorable W. SuzAnne Handshoe, Mayor 
City of Kendallville 
234 S. Main Street 
Kendallville, Indiana 46755 
 
Dear Mayor Handshoe: 
       Re: Combined Sewer Overflow Program 
        Long Term Control Plan 
        Level of Control Review 
       City of Kendallville 
       NPDES Permit No. IN0020656   
        Noble County 
 
  The City of Kendallville has completed all projects included in their approved 
Combined Sewer Overflow (CSO) Long Term Control Plan (LTCP) implementation 
schedule.  Therefore, the Indiana Department of Environmental Management (IDEM) 
Office of Water Quality (OWQ) has conducted a review of data included on CSO 
Discharge Monitoring Report (DMR) forms, CSO Monthly Report of Operation (MRO) 
forms, and other relevant information to determine whether CSO discharges comply 
with the approved LTCP level of control, which is no untreated CSO discharge below 
the ten-year, one-hour design storm, or an equivalent event.  The timeframe included in 
our review was from January 2020 through June 2023.  The following findings were 
noted: 
 

- No CSO events were reported on the CSO MROs during the review 
timeframe even though many precipitation events exceeding the ten-year, 
one-hour design storm, or an equivalent event, were reported. 

- The submitted CSO MRO forms during the review timeframe were not 
completed in full; wastewater treatment plant (WWTP) peak hourly flow data 
was not included on the forms.  

- IDEM was unable to locate CSO MRO forms for the months of March 2021 
and May 2022. 

- CSO MRO forms for the months of August and September 2020 showed the 
exact same data. 

 
 Even though no CSO events were reported during the review period, reported 
precipitation data, and the lack of WWTP peak hourly data necessitates that Kendallville 
provide follow-up information to IDEM.  Preliminarily, the City of Kendallville must 
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provide updated CSO MRO forms for the following months:  June, July and August 
2021, and July 2022.  In addition to the updated CSO MRO forms, including WWTP 
peak hourly flow data for every day of the month, Kendallville’s response must include a 
description of WWTP operations for June 19, July 1 and 2, August 8 through August 13 
(2021), and July 6, 7, 23 and 25 (2022), explaining how the large precipitation events 
reported during those months were processed through the WWTP without the need to 
use CSO 002. 
 

The response must also include: missing CSO MRO forms from March 2021 and 
May 2022, an explanation regarding the duplicate data shown on the CSO MRO forms 
from August and September 2020, and an explanation of Kendallville’s process for 
determining the peak intensity (inch/hour) data shown on the CSO MROs.  A specific  
example of the peak intensity data where IDEM would need further clarification is on 
August 11, 2021.  The CSO MRO shows 1.72” of precipitation was received in 1 hour, 
yet the peak intensity per hour data shows a much higher value of 2.96 inch/hour.   
 

Additionally, it is understood that a CSO event has occurred at CSO 002 since 
June 2023.  Kendallville’s response must include updated CSO MROs, including WWTP 
peak hourly flow data, for the months of July through September where a CSO event 
occurred. 
 
 Kendallville’s response shall be submitted within forty-five (45) days of the date 
of this letter.  Please contact Dave Tennis at 317/234-9558 or by email at 
dtennis@idem.in.gov if you have questions regarding this letter.  Thank you for your 
attention to this matter.   

 
 Sincerely,  
 

        
 
 Leigh Voss, Chief 
 Municipal NPDES Permits Section 
 Office of Water Quality 

 
cc:   Patrick Howell, Interim Superintendent 
   Lynn Raisor, IDEM Wastewater Inspector 
   Amari Farren, IDEM Water Enforcement 
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